4-17-2017

## Action Collection Service, Inc. v. Black Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44466

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**A. NATURE OF THE CASE.**

This appeal arises from a collection suit brought by Plaintiff-Respondent Action Collection Service, Inc. (“ACS”) against the Defendant-Appellant Harmony L. Black (f/k/a Harmony L. McCullough) (“Black”) for an alleged debt owed by Appellant to the Idaho Department of Juvenile Corrections (“IDJC”) for costs incurred during the incarceration of Appellant’s then minor child in IDJC facilities beginning in 2007. ACS asserted it had an assignment of a claim from IDJC and proceeded as the lone plaintiff. Appellant denied the existence of a debt owed by her to IDJC and challenged the validity of the claim and any assignment by IDJC to ACS based upon the lack of any order from the juvenile court directing her to pay IDJC, the lack of contract or other agreement between her and IDJC for same, and the lack of a valid contract and assignment between IDJC and ACS. Summary judgment was entered by the Magistrate Court for ACS and Black appealed to the District Court where the judgment was vacated and remanded to the Magistrate. ACS filed an intermediate appeal where the Idaho Court of Appeals, on January 22, 2015, affirmed the District Court’s order vacating and remanding the case to the Magistrate.

**B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS.**

Upon remand, resumption of the case proceeded before the Magistrate on April 27, 2015. R. p. 5. On or about May 4, 2015, ACS filed another *Motion for Summary Judgment* upon which, after several responsive pleadings, a hearing on the *Motion* and a status conference was

held on June 15, 2015. R. pp. 57-58. During the hearing on ACS's motion, several issues arose regarding the sufficiency of ACS's complaint and the Magistrate granted leave of the court for amended pleadings. TR. *Motion Hearing (June 15, 2015)* pp.1-89; R. pp. 210-213. On or about July 7, 2015, ACS filed its *Amended Complaint*. On or about July 8, 2015, Black filed her *Motion for Summary Judgment* and a *Memorandum in Support* asserting that ACS conceded that no written agreement existed between Black and IDJC. R. pp. 230-239. On or about July 17, 2015, the Magistrate denied Black's motion but granted her request to have the monies garnished by ACS remitted to her. R. pp. 240-241. On or about July 30, 2015, Black filed her *Answer to Amended Complaint* asserting affirmative defenses including the failure to join IDJC as an indispensable party. R. pp. 248-252. On or about July 31, 2015 through about September 21, 2015, ACS filed several pleadings. R. pp. 246-270. During the pre-trial hearing held on or about September 28, 2015, the Magistrate set the trial date for one day, that being February 19, 2016. TR. *Pretrial Hearing (09-28-2015)* pp. 4-55; R. p. 270. On or about October 5, 2015, Black filed her disclosure of trial witnesses (erroneously captioned) which included the Director of IDJC, Sharon Harrigfeld. R. pp. 271-273.

Several pre-trial motions and other pleadings were filed by the parties and heard by the Magistrate. R. pp. 274-364. The trial began on February 19, 2016 and after a full day of proceedings presided over by the Magistrate, the trial was continued until March 23, 2016, the Court went into recess, and the trial was adjourned for the evening. TR. *Magistrate Court Trial* pp. 292-298.

Upon resumption of the trial on March 23, 2016, the Magistrate identified a conflict of interest with a subpoenaed witness, namely Sharon Harrigfeld, and asked the parties for a motion to disqualify him and for his recusal. *TR. Magistrate Court Trial* pp. 319-327. Said Motions were then made and the Magistrate then recused himself from the case. *R.* pp. 456-458.

Subsequently, four other magistrate judges were sequentially assigned to this case and were either voluntarily disqualified or disqualified upon motion by the parties, until District Court Judge George D. Carey was assigned. *R.* pp. 474-510.

Several pleadings and motions were filed during the interim period before the resumption of trial which had been rescheduled for July 7-8, 2016. *R.* pp. 511-665. Trial was held as scheduled and judgment was entered in favor of ACS but limited to an amount less than what had been pleaded from the inception of the case. Several post-trial motions were also filed and attorney's fees awarded to ACS were limited to the portion of the trial where the District Court deemed the proceedings to be the substitute for the, up until then never held, juvenile reimbursement hearing assessing costs against Black.

### **C. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

ACS is a collection agency organized under the laws of Idaho. The Idaho Department of Juvenile Corrections is a political subdivision of the State of Idaho.<sup>1</sup> Black, at all times relevant to this matter, is an individual person who is a resident of the State of Idaho.

---

<sup>1</sup> The Idaho Department of Juvenile Corrections (IDJC) was ostensibly created by the enactment of the Juvenile Corrections Act of 1995. However, the IDJC's creation does not comport with the Idaho Constitution under Article IV, Section 20 wherein it provides that all executive departments of the state of Idaho must be created prior to the year 1975. Appellant asserts the constitutional validity of the IDJC is in dispute.

ACS has asserted that it had a valid assignment from, under a valid contract with, the IDJC to collect a sum certain from Black under the auspices of Idaho Code Title 67 Section 2358. (I.C. T.67-§2358). Further, ACS asserted that the sum certain was a debt created by the IDJC in its operations which included the incarceration of Black's then minor child from 2007-2009. The IDJC's asserted authority is derived from the Idaho Juvenile Corrections Act of 1995, codified at I.C. T.20-§501 et seq.

## **II ISSUES ON APPEAL**

### **A. IS A HEARING AND AN ORDER FROM THE JUVENILE COURT REQUIRED FOR PARENTAL REIMBURSEMENT OF COSTS INCURRED BY THE IDJC?**

The statutory authority for IDJC to collect any reimbursement under the Idaho Juvenile Corrections Act of 1995 is found in I.C. T.20-§524. That section, entitled "SUPPORT OF JUVENILE OR JUVENILE OFFENDER -- REIMBURSEMENT FOR COSTS INCURRED", provides in Subsection (1) that "[. . .] after due notice to the parent [. . .], and after a hearing, the court may order and decree that the parent [. . .] shall pay in such a manner as the court may direct a reasonable sum that will cover in whole or in part the support and treatment of the juvenile or juvenile offender." I.C. T.20-§524(1).

### **B. IS A VALID CONTRACT NECESSARY FOR THE IDJC TO BE ABLE TO ASSIGN A CLAIM FOR REIMBURSEMENT?**

The statutory authority for any public agency of the State of Idaho to assign debts for collection by a private collection agency is found in I.C. T.67-§2358. That statute, entitled "COLLECTION OF PUBLIC DEBTS – FEES", provides, under subsection (1)(a) that "[p]ublic



agencies, as defined in section 67-2327, Idaho Code, may retain by written contract a collection agency that has a permit pursuant to chapter 22, title 26, Idaho Code, for the purpose of collecting public debts owed by any person [. . .].”

**C. CAN A CLAIM FOR REIMBURSEMENT BY THE IDJC BE ASSIGNED PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF AN ORDER?**

The statutory authority for any public agency of the State of Idaho to assign debts for collection by a private collection agency is found in I.C. T.67-§2358. That statute, under subsection (2)(a), provides that “[n]o debt may be assigned to a collection agency unless there has been a reasonable attempt to advise the debtor of the debt and at least thirty (30) days have elapsed from the time such notice was attempted. The public agency shall maintain a record of all attempts to notify the debtor of the existence of the debt.”

**III  
ARGUMENT**

**A. STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

“The interpretation of a statute is a question of law over which this Court exercises free review.” *Carrier v. Lake Pend Oreille Sch. Dist.*, 142 Idaho 804, 807, 134 P.3d 655, 658 (2006).

“The interpretation of a statute ‘must begin with the literal words of the statute; those words must be given their plain, usual, and ordinary meaning; and the statute must be construed as a whole. If the statute is not ambiguous, this Court does not construe it, but simply follows the law as written.’” *Verska v. Saint Alphonsus Reg’l Med. Ctr.*, 151 Idaho 889, 893, 265 P.3d 502, 506 (2011) (quoting *State v. Schwartz*, 139 Idaho 360, 362, 79 P.3d 719, 721 (2003)).

Whether a document is ambiguous is a question of law. *McKay v. Boise Project Bd. of Control*, 141 Idaho 463, 469, 111 P.3d 148, 154 (2005) (citing *City of Chubbuck v. City of Pocatello*, 127 Idaho 198, 899 P.2d 411 (1995)).

The existence of ambiguity determines the standard of review of a lower court's interpretation of a contract or instrument." *Mountainview Landowners Coop. Ass'n, Inc. v. Cool*, 139 Idaho 770, 772, 86 P.3d 484, 486 (2004) (citing *Union Pac. R.R. Co. v. Ethington Fam. Trust*, 137 Idaho 435, 437–38, 50 P.3d 450, 452–53 (2002)).

"This Court reviews factual findings made after a trial without a jury for clear error." *Coward v. Hadley*, 150 Idaho 282, 286, 246 P.3d 391, 395 (2010) (citing I.R.C.P. 52(a)).

"A district court's exercise of discretion will be upheld absent a showing of abuse of discretion." *Schneider v. Howe*, 142 Idaho 767, 771, 133 P. 3d 1232 (2006). When an exercise of discretion is involved, an appellate court conducts a three-step inquiry: (1) whether the trial court properly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether that court acted within the outer boundaries of such discretion and consistently with any legal standards applicable to specific choices; and (3) whether the court reached its decision by the exercise of reason. *Peasley Transfer & Storage Co. v. Smith*, 132 Idaho 732, 745, 979 P.2d 605 (1999).

**B. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ITS DETERMINATION THAT VALID CONTRACT EXISTED BETWEEN THE IDJC AND ACS**

A valid written contract was a statutory requirement for IDJC to be able to assign anything to ACS for collection. I.C. T.67-§2358(1)(a) provides that "[p]ublic agencies, [. . . ], may retain by written contract a collection agency [. . . ] for the purpose of collecting public debts [. . . ]."

The written agreement between ACS and IDJC for collection services was apparently executed on May 11, 2006. R. pp. 584-588. The first full paragraph of the Agreement states that it “is made this day of 6/1/06 and will extend through 5/31/07” R. p. 585. This contract lapsed under its own terms prior to the initiation of the “assignment” by IDJC to ACS in 2012. No other written contract was introduced into evidence by ACS. Review of the internal ambiguity of the agreement between ACS and IDJC is a matter of law and is freely reviewable by the Supreme Court. The District Court erred in its determination that a valid contract between IDJC and ACS was in existence at the time of the collection action by ACS.

**C. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ITS DETERMINATION THAT THE IDJC PROPERLY ASSIGNED A DEBT TO ACS**

Not only was the contract between IDJC and ACS lapsed, but the assignment also failed in that it was not a “debt” as statutorily required under I.C. T.67-§2358(2)(a), but merely an unripe claim that lacked the statutorily required “due notice to the parent [. . .], hearing, [and] order and decree” of the juvenile court under I.C. T.20-§524(1).

The plain language of I.C. T.67-§2358 states only debts can be assigned, and not claims, choses in action, or other potential causes of action. Furthermore, the plain language of I.C. T.20-§524(1) states that only “*after* due notice to the parent” and “*after* a hearing” can the juvenile court issue an order for reimbursement by a parent. [Italics added.]

The IDJC does not have the authority to make the determination that a debt is owed by a parent. The IDJC must request reimbursement from the juvenile court and the court’s authority

for an order is discretionary where the plain language again states that “the court *may* order and decree that the parent [. . .] shall pay”. [Italics added.] I.C. T.20-§524(1).

During trial, the Director of the IDJC was asked specifically about the issue of parental reimbursement and stated that the IDJC takes the parent to court in cases of requested reimbursement. TR. *Court Trial July 7, 2016- July 8, 2016*, p. 382, ll. 24-25; p. 384, ll.1-2; p. 384, ll. 14-15.

No order of reimbursement was entered against Black by any court prior to the trial on July 7-8, 2016.

**D. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE TRIAL TO SUPPLANT THE REIMBURSEMENT HEARING**

The District Court allowed ACS to assert that the trial held on July 7-8, 2016 to serve as the reimbursement hearing under I.C. T.20-§524. TR. *Court Trial July 7, 2016- July 8, 2016*, pp. 344-345. This was an abuse of discretion in that ACS never pleaded that it was acting in place of IDJC for purposes of a reimbursement hearing nor did ACS ever plead that the trial was in essence the reimbursement hearing. Id.

For the District Court to allow this was fundamentally prejudicial to Black in that “due notice” had not been given as required by I.C. T.20-§524. Moreover, the proceedings for collection occurred prior to a court order of reimbursement which deprives ACS, by virtue of a premature assignment, the statutory authority to bring a collection action without first establishing a debt as required under I.C. T.67-§2358.

The procedural errors in this regard were not only harmful and prejudicial, but the collection action by ACS, or even IDJC, had been time-barred long before trial. R. pp. 718-729.

#### **IV CONCLUSION**

The judgment in favor of ACS by the District Court should be reversed in favor of Appellant Black due to several errors of law. Because of the lapse of time during the protracted litigation, the interests of conservation of judicial resources, and in the interests of justice, this matter should not be remanded. Oral argument is requested.

DATED this 17<sup>th</sup> day of April 2017.

  
THOMAS J. KATSILOMETES  
Attorney for Appellant