Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-19-2017

Action Collection Service, Inc. v. Black Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44466

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented.

In response to a series of monthly statements, Defendant made payments to the Idaho Department of Juvenile Corrections ("IDJC") for the support and treatment of her minor daughter.¹ R. Sealed Exhibits, p. 379. When the Defendant failed to continue to make payment, IDJC assigned the Defendant's account to Action Collection Service, Inc. ("ACS") pursuant to a written contract and blanket assignment executed on May 11, 2006. R. Augmented Record, pp. 684-686; R. Sealed Exhibits, pp. 405-412. Defendant was not a party to the written contract or the blanket assignment, and both ACS and IDJC operated at all relevant times with the understanding that the contract and blanket assignment were in full force in effect. R. Augmented Record, p. 685.

II.

ATTORNEY'S FEES ON APPEAL

ACS requests attorney's fees on appeal. This request is based on Idaho Code Section 12-120(1) and 12-121. ACS also requests fees to the extent that this Court determines that the appeal was brought or pursued frivolously, unreasonably, or without foundation. *See Hoffer v.*

¹ Appellant asserts in a footnote that IDJC's creation was unconstitutional and that the validity of IDJC is in dispute. This claim was never presented to the District Court and has not been properly preserved or presented on appeal. Schiewe v. Farwell, 125 Idaho 46, 49, 867 P.2d 920, 923 (1993)). Idaho Appellate Rule 35(a)(6) requires that the Defendant identify findings of fact, statements of law, or applications of law to the facts which are arguably in error. Vulk v. Haley, 112 Idaho 855,857, 736 P.2d 1309, 1311 (1987). Issues on appeal that are not supported by propositions of law or authority with reference to the record are deemed waived. Eagle Water Co., Inc. v. Roundy Pole Fence Co., Inc., 134 Idaho 626, 7 P.3d 626 (2000).

Shappard, 160 Idaho 870, 380 P.3d 681 (2016); DeChambeau v. Estate of Smith, 132 Idaho 568, 572, 976 P.2d 922, 926 (1999).

III.

ARGUMENT

A. The contract between IDJC and ACS is ambiguous as to its termination date.

The District Court found that the contract between IDJC and ACS was ambiguous and that both ACS and IDJC treated the contract as being in full force and effect until one party gives the other written notice of termination under Paragraph 13, a condition that had not occurred. R. Augmented Record, pp. 684-686; Tr. Court Trial July 7, 2016 – July 9, 2016, pp. 48, L. 14 – p. 49, L. 1, 52, Il. 10-19., Tr. 114-116. Consequently, the District Court found that the parties had not terminated their contract. Defendant does not challenge these factual findings. *Woods v. Crouse*, 101 Idaho 764, 765, 620 P.2d 798, 799 (1980)(on appeal, the court must presume that the evidence justifies the decision and that the findings are supported by substantial evidence); *Clear v. Marvin*, 86 Idaho 87, 383 P.2d 346 (1963)(finding that error is never presumed on appeal and the burden of showing it is on the party alleging error). Defendant only challenges the finding that the contract was ambiguous.

A contract is ambiguous when it is capable of more than one reasonable interpretation on a given issue. *Brown v. Perkins*, 129 Idaho 189, 193, 923 P.2d 434, 438 (1996). To determine whether or not a contract is ambiguous, the court must view the agreement as a whole. *Mountainview Landowners Co-op. Ass'n, Inc. v. Cool*, 142, Idaho 861, 865, 136 P.3d 332, 336, (2006). If the contract is ambiguous, its interpretation is a question of fact and the court should consider the conduct of the parties to the contract and the parties' practical interpretation of it.

Pocatello Hosp., LLC, v. Quail Rdg. Med. Investor, LLC, 156 Idaho 709, 720, 330 P.3d 1067 (2014).

The opening paragraphs of the Independent Contractor Agreement state as follows:

This agreement is made this day of 6/1/06, and will extend through 5/31/07. This agreement is between the Idaho Department of Juvenile Corrections . . . and (the "Client"), Action Collection Service Inc., (the "Independent Contractor").

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual promises and covenants herein contained, the parties agree as follows:

R. Sealed Exhibits, p. 405. Paragraph 13, provides for the term and the method of termination. It reads:

13. Term. This Agreement's term shall begin on the date hereof and shall remain in force until terminated. Either party may terminate the Agreement at any time by giving fifteen (15) days' written notice to the other.

R. Sealed Exhibits, p. 407.

It is argued by the Defendant that the first paragraph provides that the contract terminated on May 31, 2007. Black's Law Dictionary defines the words "extend" and "through" as terms that lend themselves to a great variety of meanings. Black's Law Dictionary at 583, 1481 (6th ed., 1990). Those terms could just as easily be interpreted to mean continue past May 31, 2007. Moreover, the opening paragraph must be read in connection with the entire agreement. There, the contract states that the parties agree to the terms and conditions set forth below the introductory paragraphs, which includes a provision that the contract will remain in effect until terminated by giving notice. Consequently, the opening paragraph alone does not establish a clear end date or that the contract had been terminated, especially when read in light of Paragraph 13, the written blanket assignment, and the conduct of the parties to the contract.

The blanket assignment has no express termination date. R. Sealed Exhibits, p. 410. It simply provides that an assignment occurs when IDJC "now or hereafter tender[s] to [ACS] listed accounts . . ." Id. At trial, the unrebutted evidence established that IDJC listed the Defendant's account with ACS in accordance with the terms and conditions of its agreements, which was accepted by ACS and pursued in the same manner as it had done with all the other accounts provided to it by IDJC since 2006. R. Sealed Exhibits, pp. 378, 411; Tr. Court Trial July 7, 2016 – July 9, 2016, pp. 49-52, pp. 84-88, pp. 105-106, pp. 115-116, p. 127. While this evidence supports the District Court's conclusion that the contract had not ended, it would also support a conclusion, if it had expired, that agreement was modified by the conduct of the parties, and thus was operational when Defendant's obligation was assigned to ACS. *Ore-Ida Potato Products Inc.*, 83 Idaho at 296(holding that the modification of an agreement "may be implied from a course of conduct in accordance with its existence and assent may be implied from the acts of one party in accordance with the terms of the change proposed by the other").

B. <u>Defendant's financial obligation is a "debt" within the meaning of Idaho Code</u> Section 67-2358.

Defendant asserts that the assignment in this case failed because there was no "debt" as defined by Idaho Code Section 67-2358. This issue was not presented to the trial court. Originally, Defendant argued that the court erred in its findings and conclusions because Idaho Code Section 20-524 does not "allow for the assignment of the right to create a debt." R.

Augmented Record, p. 722. This original issue is not presented here, and has been waived. *Schiewe*, 125 Idaho at 49. As such, Defendant's presentation of the current question for the first time on appeal is fatal to the issue. *Id*.

Even if the issue was properly preserved and presented, the plain language of Idaho Code Section 67-2358 allows for the assignment in this case. That statute reads in relevant part as follows:

(1) (a) Public agencies ... may retain by written contract a collection agency ... for the purpose of collecting public debts owed by any person, including any restitution that is being collected on behalf of a crime victim.

(4) For purposes of this section, the term "debt" shall include all debts, including the fee required under subsection (1)(b) of this section, except as otherwise provided by law.

I.C. § 67-2358(emphasis added).² The statute in clear language provides that the term "debt" means all debts. *See Martin v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 138 Idaho 244, 246, 61 P.3d 601, 603 (2002)(holding that where a statute is unambiguous, statutory construction is unnecessary and courts are free to apply the plain meaning).

Defendant's financial obligation to reimburse IDJC is a debt within the meaning of the statute. Whether or not a court ordered a particular dollar amount is inconsequential to the

² Idaho Code Section 67-2358 provides that a public agency "may retain by written contract" a collection agency, it does not provide that the public agency shall retain a collection agency by written contract. See Rife v. Long, 127 Idaho 841, 848, 908 P.2d 143, 150 (1995) (stating that "This Court has interpreted the meaning of the word 'may' appearing in legislation, as having the meaning or expressing the right to exercise discretion.").

issue.³ Defendant's financial obligation to pay, and IDJC's assertion of that obligation is of critical importance. Webster's defines "debt" as "something owed; obligation." Webster's Collegiate Dictionary at 320 (11th ed. 2003). Black's Law Dictionary defines "debt" as "[1]iability on a claim" Black's Law Dictionary at 488 (10th ed., 2014); Black's Law Dictionary at 403 (6th ed., 1990). In applying the plain meaning of the term, Defendant's obligation, and IDJC's claim for a particular sum, fits squarely within the meaning of the term "debt" as stated in Idaho Code Section 67-2358(4). This is especially true in cases, like this one, where the obligated parent makes payments towards the obligation prior to any assignment or outside collection efforts.⁴ R. Sealed Exhibits, p. 379. Payment is an acknowledgment of that obligation.

C. <u>The District Court did not abuse its discretion when it found Defendant liable to pay</u> for the care and treatment of her minor daughter.

Defendant argues that the District Court abused its discretion when it determined that the Defendant owed a reasonable sum to cover the support and treatment of the Defendant's minor child while in the care and custody of IDJC. In support of this argument, Defendant claims that she did not have due notice of the claim.

ACS's claim that the Defendant owed a reasonable sum to cover her daughter's care and treatment has been the subject of argument by both ACS and Defendant since 2012. ACS's

³ Defendant mischaracterized Director Harrigfeld's testimony. Director Harrigfeld testified in response to counsel's question concerning reimbursements hearings, that she "can't answer that. That is mostly done by our deputy attorney general that goes to those hearings." Tr. Court Trial July 7, 2016 – July 9, 2016, pp. 383, ll. 3-11.

⁴ Defendant's payments to IDJC followed a series of statements sent to her by IDJC. R. pp. 379, 411; Tr. Court Trial July 7, 2016 – July 9, 2016, pp. 102-103; pp. 288, L. 23 – p. 289. L. 1; Tr. Court Trial February 19, 2016, p. 191, L. 20 – p. 193, L. 5 - p. 194, L.13, p. 196, L. 13 – p. 202 L. 20. This evidence supports the conclusion that even the Defendant acknowledged her financial obligation/debt to IDJC.

claim was reasserted in its Amended Complaint. R. Augmented Record, pp. 220-229. There, ACS plead that IDJC provided Defendant's daughter with support and treatment from September 27, 2007 through July 5, 2009, and that Defendant was obligated to pay for the reasonable value of those services in accordance with, among other things, Idaho Code Section 20-524. R. Augmented Record, pp. 220-229, 267. Defendant was aware of these claims and defended against them vigorously. Thus, it was not an abuse of discretion or clear error for the District Court to determine that ACS's claims were timely, and rule on those claims following the presentation of all the evidence. R. Augmented Record, pp. 767-775. *See Coward v. Hadley*, 150 Idaho 282, 286, 246 P.3d 391, 395 (2010)(holding that the factual findings made after a court trial are reviewed for clear error); *see also Schneider v. Howe*, 142 Idaho 767, 771, 133 P.3d 1232 (2006)(stating that "[a] district court's exercise of discretion will be upheld absent a showing of abuse of discretion").

D. Plaintiff is entitled to attorney fees on appeal.

Whether a party is entitled to attorney fees in Idaho is dependent upon a statute or rule permitting such an award. *Allison v. John M. Biggs, Inc.*, 121 Idaho 567, 568, 826 P.2d 916, 917 (1992). Attorney fees on appeal are similarly dependent upon rule or statute. *Id.*; I.A.R. 41.

Under Idaho Code Section 12-120(1), a prevailing party is entitled to a reasonable attorney's fee fixed by the court. To be awarded fees under this statute, the claim must be plead in an amount less than 35,000 and the plaintiff must have given the defendant "written demand for the payment . . . not less than ten (10) days before the commencement of the action; provided, that no attorney's fees shall be allowed to the plaintiff if the court finds that the defendant

tendered to the plaintiff, prior to the commencement of the action, an amount at least equal to ninety-five percent (95%) of the amount awarded to the plaintiff." I.C. § 12-120(1).

In this case, ACS made written demand on the Defendant more than ten days prior to the filing of this lawsuit. R. Sealed Exhibits, p. 385. The amount in controversy was alleged to be less than \$35,000.00 and the Defendant did not tender any payment or offer 95% of the amount awarded. As a result, ACS was entitled to attorney fees as the prevailing party under Idaho Code Section 12-120(1). Because costs and attorney's fees were authorized by statute below, costs and fees would also be appropriate on appeal. *Latham Motors, Inc. v. Phillips*, 123 Idaho 689, 697, 851 P.2d 985, 993 (Ct.App. 1989).

Attorney's fees on appeal are also supported by Idaho Code Section 12-121. This appeal is nothing more than an attempt to second guess the District Court in an effort to reargue the facts of this case, and invite this Court to search the record for error. *Vulk v. Haley*, 112 Idaho 855,857, 736 P.2d 1309, 1311 (1987). Idaho Code Section 12-121 gives the courts broad authority to award attorney fees. *Hoffer v. Shappard*, 160 Idaho 870, 380 P.3d 681 (2016).⁵ This statutory authority extends to this Court on appeal. Thus, if this Court is left with the abiding belief that the appeal was pursued frivolously, unreasonably, and without foundation, costs and attorney fees are appropriate. *See DeChambeau v. Estate of Smith*, 132 Idaho 568, 572, 976 P.2d 922, 926 (1999).

 $^{^{5}}$ ACS understands that this Court's decision in *Hoffer* has a starting date of March 1, 2017 for all cases that have not become final as of that date. Here, while the judgment in this case was entered prior to March 1, 2017, this appeal continues and Idaho Code Section 12-121 would be applicable.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court affirm the District Court, and award Respondent its costs and attorney's fees on appeal.